**RECEIVED**

AUG 15 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Appellate Case No: 2013-000890

---

Loretta Springs, .....Petitioner,

vs.

Clemson University and State Accident Fund.....Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

Paul C. Rathke, Esquire (SCB: 6990)  
The Joel Bieber Firm  
201 East North Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
864-370-9300  
864-331-2341  
[Prathke@joelbieber.com](mailto:Prathke@joelbieber.com)

Attorneys for Petitioner

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to address and follow the precedent and established law found in Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center, 343 S.C. 487, 541 S.E. 2d 526 (2001).
2. The Workers' Compensation Commission misapplied South Carolina law when it found the Petitioner's mental injury was aggravated by the work injury but still found it not compensable because it was "more related" to childhood abuse.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves injuries suffered by Loretta Springs (Springs) during her employment at Clemson University (Respondent).

On February 13, 2013, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission which affirmed the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner.

The Appellate Panel cited *Bartley v. Allendale Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 392 S.C. 300, 306, 709 W.E.2d 619, 622 (2011) for the proposition that the Court of Appeals must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commissioner if they are supported by substantial evidence. The Court of Appeals did not address the arguments made in the appeal by the Petitioner (App. p. 404-405).

Springs maintains she suffered work related injuries from an accident occurring on October 12, 2007 when she fell from a golf cart hitting her head and injuring her neck, back, and hip. Springs contends she sustained a physical brain injury and injuries to her head, her back, her coccyx, her left lower extremity related to nerve damage, her ears, her nose, her tongue, her olfactory nerve, anxiety, depression, and psychological overlay. These mental injuries are severe and manifest as dissociative identity disorder.

The Respondents admitted injuries to the coccyx, hip, and head. The Respondents maintained that Springs suffered a minor closed head injury (concussion) which subsequently healed. The Respondents specifically denied physical brain damage. The Respondents contended Springs' current psychological condition and need for counseling is primarily related to her past post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of childhood abuse and that it is the abuse which resulted in the

dissociative identity disorder (multiple personalities).

A hearing in this matter was held before Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. The hearing was set on the Form 50. Commissioner Wilkerson took evidence on the claim and issued a Decision and Order filed April 11, 2011. Both sides subsequently and timely filed Requests for Review by the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission asserting numerous errors on the part of Commissioner Wilkerson.

The issues were heard by the Commission on August 15, 2011. The Appellate Panel Decision and Order dated November 16, 2011 affirmed the decision of the Hearing Commissioner with the following Award:

1. The Claimant is entitled to 10 weeks of permanent disability to her coccyx and 15 weeks of permanent disability to her back, representing five (5%) percent disability to her back, totaling 25 weeks. Based on the Claimant's compensation rate of \$289.95, this totals \$7,248.75.
2. The Claimant sustained a minor closed head injury which subsequently healed and has not suffered permanent physical brain damage as contemplated under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10.
3. The Claimant currently suffers from at least five (5) different personalities as a result of her dissociative identity disorder stemming from post-traumatic stress disorder from childhood abuse. The Claimant's memory problems and other psychological conditions are more related to her childhood abuse than as a direct result of her work injury. Accordingly, the Claimant is not entitled to any permanent disability for the closed head injury.
4. The Claimant is entitled to additional medical care and treatment which would tend to lessen her period of disability. At the current time, this would include the counseling by Dr. Kriegel as his counseling is for both pain and her PTSD.
5. The Claimant is to be referred to vocational rehabilitation, and the Defendants will be responsible for the cost.

(App. p. 25)

Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal from this Order.

After the issuance of the Opinion by the Court of Appeals, a timely petition for rehearing was filed on February 27, 2013 and denied on March 27, 2013 (App p. 406-420).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Springs was injured while at work at Clemson University (App. pp. 86, 87). She was a maintenance technician and was being driven by a coworker in a golf cart when she was flung out as the cart was cornering (App. p. 87, lines 9-23). Springs landed on her coccyx and hit her head sustaining injuries to her back, coccyx, head, brain and ear (App. p. 87, line 24-p. 88, line 3). These injuries also led to mental injuries (App. p. 293).

At the time of the initial hearing Springs had been married for five and one-half (5 1/2) years (App. p. 66, lines 19-23). Springs' husband, Daniel Springs, testified that Springs did not have the strength she used to have and planting a garden, bending, squatting, and kneeling are very difficult for her (App. p. 71, line 4-p. 72, line 10). Mr. Springs testified she was still taking a prescription medication for pain, an antidepressant, and wore a patch for pain. She also uses a TENS unit to ease pain (App. p. 75, line 17 - p. 76, line 6).

Mr. Springs testified that Springs' dizziness and headaches did improve after the accident (App. p. 76, lines 17-22). He further testified that she could do some household chores, some cooking, and some housekeeping. Mr. Springs was aware his wife suffers from multiple personality disorder. Mr. Springs acknowledged he had no training in determining how to detect personality disorders and that he learned of her multiple personalities after she began seeing Dr. Kriegel. He testified that some of Springs' personalities have certain memories, and it is his understanding these personalities are the way she now copes with her early childhood trauma (App. p. 78, line 3-p. 79, line 11).

Prior to the work accident, Springs' childhood trauma did not interfere with her ability to function in life. Her work history includes waitressing, landscaping, zookeeper, farming, raising cattle, and work at a dairy cow auction (App. p. 82, line 16-p. 84, line 25). She was able to train koala bears (App. p. 83, lines 13-14) and was a handler of the Anheuser Busch Clydesdales (App. p. 83, lines 14-17). She also worked as an electrical assistant installing conduit and wiring commercial buildings (App. p. 85, lines 8-12). Springs eventually went to work at Clemson University as a Maintenance Technician repairing HVAC electrical and plumbing systems all over campus (App. p. 86, lines 3-12).

During the course of her extensive treatment, Springs saw Sheldon Herring, Ph.D. at the Roger C. Peace Rehabilitation Center for a Neuropsychological Evaluation. Dr. Herring diagnosed her with Adjustment Disorder with anxiety and depressed mood. He recommended two main treatments:

First, although the patient's semantic (verbal and visual) memories are quite functional, she presents with forgetfulness and problems with organizing herself for daily activities. This may be a secondary symptom impacted more by depression and pain; however, it does cause the patient significant distress. For this reason I recommend brief referral to our outpatient speech therapy team to help the patient develop a more practical memory management strategy and to help her organize herself in day to day activities.

Second, I recommend that supportive counseling be provided to the patient to help her address her coping style and to provide more direct support for her depression. Since it is anticipated that the patient will be involved in outpatient speech therapy for a fairly brief period of time, I recommend that the patient find a psychotherapist closer to her home community that can help work with her over the longer term regarding adjustment to her chronic pain and to help her develop better relaxation and pain management skills (App. p. 262-263)

Springs began seeing a psychologist, Dr. Kriegel for pain and emotional counseling. While receiving counseling, it became apparent she was abused as a child (App. pp. 103, lines 13-16). Since the accident, she has not been able to put the memories out of her mind. It now interferes with her daily life, her marriage and her ability to work (App. pp. 104, lines 7-19).

Springs testified that prior to the accident she took an antidepressant for about 6 months when she was in her 20's and was going through a divorce. She stated she continues to have memory problems since the accident but has learned to cope through therapy. She testified her word recall has improved, but she has more problems with anger and emotions (App. p. 105, line 8-p. 106, line 25). Springs acknowledged that she has multiple personalities, and she has been aware of them some of the time. She maintained she has never experienced multiple personalities prior to the injury, but she did have prior "lost time," (App. p. 107, lines 1-17). Springs testified she was not sure if Dr. Kriegel's treatment was helping her with her pain because she has only been seeing him for a year (App. p. 107, lines 19-24). She did believe his teaching her breathing techniques has helped and she wished to continue seeing Dr. Kriegel because she hoped to rid herself of most of her situation (App. p. 108, lines 1-6).

Springs acknowledged that Dr. Kriegel has diagnosed her with at least five (5) different personalities. She stated she was unaware of her multiple personalities prior to the accident (App. p. 117, lines 22-25). Springs testified that when she disassociates, Dr. Kriegel can ask an alter (an 8-year old female) to discuss a bad occurrence. This female alter can make Springs smell and taste as if the occurrence were happening (App. p. 118, lines 1-12). Springs further recalls losing time or blacking out in high school. She stated these could have been due to different personalities because she was being abused at the time, but she never saw anyone for these problems nor sought

treatment prior to this accident (App. p. 119, lines 1-15).

A review of Dr. Kriegel's medical records indicates that her inability to work affected her emotional stability (App. p. 282). Springs has been diagnosed with dissociative identity disorder. Dr. Kriegel believes Springs suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of childhood abuse with the current situation overwhelming her coping skills (App. p. 289). Springs is still seeing Dr. Kriegel for therapy and Eric Loudermilk, M.D. for pain management (App. pp. 92, line 4-p. 93, line 2).

## ARGUMENTS

This case presents a novel issue in as much as the hearing commissioner seems to have relied on a standard not found in the SC Workers' Compensation Act or in South Carolina case law.

The issue of a new standard for compensability is of considerable importance to the workers' compensation bar. This new standard used by the Commissioner and affirmed without discussion by both the full commission and the S.C. Court of Appeals is whether an aggravation of a pre-existing condition can still be held not compensable if it is "more related" to the pre-existing cause and not the work injury.

The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") provides the standard for judicial review of workers' compensation decisions. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 689 S.E.2d 615 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the APA, the Court can reverse or modify the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record or are arbitrary or capricious. Transp. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2009) 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2009)" "S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2009)"

**A. The Court of Appeals Erred in Failing to Address and Follow the Precedent and Established Law Found in Anderson v. Baptist Med. Ctr., 343 S.C. 487, 493, 541 S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001)**

Mental injuries are compensable if they are induced either by physical injury or by unusual or extraordinary conditions of employment. Anderson v. Baptist Med. Ctr., 343 S.C. 487, 493, 541

S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001); Getsinger v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp., 335 S.C. 77, 80, 515 S.E.2d 104, 106 (Ct. App. 1999); Stokes v. First Nat'l Bank, 298 S.C. 13, 21, 377 S.E.2d 922, 926 (Ct. App. 1988). A mental condition is causally related to the original injury if the condition was induced by the physical injury. Estridge v. Joslyn Clark Controls, Inc., 325 S.C. 532, 537-38, 482 S.E.2d 577, 580 (Ct. App. 1997).

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35 applies to the aggravation of a pre-existing condition and provides:

- a) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:
  - (1) the *subsequent injury* aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or
  - (2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.
- b) The commission may award compensation benefits to an employee who has a permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition and who incurs a *subsequent disability* from an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment for the resulting disability of the permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition and the subsequent injury.

A claimant is entitled to benefits for aggravation of a pre-existing condition of depression.

Bentley v. Allen Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. 300, 310, 709 S.E.2d 619, 624 (2011) *citing* Anderson v. Baptist Med. Cntr., 343 S.C. 487, 541 S.E.2d 526 (2001).

Pre-existing depression does not preclude workers' compensation benefits for a mental injury. *See* Doe v. S.C. Dep't of Disabilities & Special Needs, 377 S.C. 346, 351, 660 S.E.2d 260, 263 (2008). However, the right of a claimant to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition arises only when the claimant has a dormant condition that has produced no disability but becomes

disabling because of the aggravating injury. Anderson, 343 S.C. at 493, 541 S.E.2d at 528.

The Act addresses the standard for compensability of mental injuries at S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D).

(D) Stress, mental injuries, and mental illness alleged to have been aggravated by a work-related physical injury may not be found compensable unless the aggravation is:

(1) admitted by the employer/carrier;

(2) noted in a medical record of an authorized physician that, in the physician's opinion, the condition is at least in part causally-related or connected to the injury or accident, whether or not the physician refers the employee for treatment of the condition;

(3) found to be causally-related or connected to the accident or injury after evaluation by an authorized psychologist or psychiatrist; or

(4) noted in a medical record or report of the employee's physician as causally-related or connected to the injury or accident.

In this case, the Full Commission found that Springs' PTSD was aggravated by the work injury. That finding was not appealed and is the law of the case (See finding of Fact #5, App. p. 15). The Commissioner also found that "the evidence establishes that the five (5) different personalities associated with the personality dissociative identity disorder were suppressed and unknown prior to the accident. This disorder was diagnosed during her counseling sessions". (Finding of Fact #7, App. p. 15) Thus, the Commissioner's own findings confirm the aggravation of the pre-existing condition and that it was dormant and became disabling because of the aggravating injury.

The Full Commission Order also stated:

14. I award the Claimant such further causally related medical treatment as would tend to lessen her disability. This would currently include the counseling she receives from Dr. Kriegel as the counseling for the PTSD is hand in hand with the counseling for pain therapy.

Finding of Fact No. 14, (App. p. 16).

There are also findings that seem to question the compensability of the mental injuries:

7. The Claimant has had and suffers from some very serious problems, however, based on the greater weight of the evidence, I do not find the accident of October 12, 2007 caused all of the problems the Claimant is experiencing. The evidence establishes that the five (5) different personalities associated with the personality dissociative identity disorder were suppressed and unknown prior to the accident. This disorder was diagnosed during her counseling sessions.
24. The medical record of Dr. Kriegel dated February 17, 2010 states that the Claimant has found herself focusing on memories from her childhood. There is the potential that her memory problems may be more related to intrusive memories from her childhood rather than as a direct result of her head injury during her accident (App. p. 18).
25. The medical record of Dr. Kriegel dated March 19, 2001, states that the Claimant's symptoms relate and make it appear more and more that she suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder from childhood abuse (App. p. 18).
29. The medical record of Dr. Kriegel dated August 19, 2010 states the Claimant has been battling depression for many years and that the reason the Claimant did not recognize it as such is primarily because it has been her constant companion (App. p. 18).
30. The medical record of Dr. Kriegel dated August 26, 2010

states that the Claimant has had a difficult time in the last two (2) days with her memory. In addition, she has had a much greater than normal level of anxiety and agitation. As we discussed this during our session, it became clear that it was associated to her PTSD and dissociative identity disorder. She dissociated twice during our session today and was then able to relate the triggering mechanism that occurred two (2) days ago. She is beginning to understand more fully how her PTSD can play a major role in her memory issues. It does appear that she does have some level of memory dysfunction as a result of her on-the-job injury but the PTSD has an impact on her memory as well. She appeared to be much calmer and reassured by the time that she left today (App p. 19).

Findings of Fact Nos. 7, 24, 25, 29 and 30, (App. pp. 18, 19).

The Award of the Commission states:

3. The Claimant currently suffers from at least five (5) different personalities as a result of her dissociative identity disorder stemming from post-traumatic stress disorder from childhood abuse. The Claimant's memory problems and other psychological conditions are more related to her childhood abuse than as a direct result of her work injury. Accordingly, the Claimant is not entitled to any permanent disability for the closed head injury.
4. The Claimant is entitled to additional medical care and treatment which would tend to lessen her period of disability. At the current time, this would include the counseling by Dr. Kriegel as his counseling is for both pain and her PTSD.

The Appellate Panel Decision and Order Nos. 3 and 4, (App. pp. 32).

Taken together, these Findings and Awards seem contradictory on the question of the compensability for Springs' mental condition. The contradiction results from the failure to follow Anderson.

In the Anderson opinion, this Court explained the compensability of an aggravation of a pre-existing mental injury and held, while reversing the Workers Compensation Commission, that the psychological treatment of Springs' was compensable after a work injury aggravated a pre-existing psychological problem even where the Claimant was already treating for the problem before the work injury in question. The Court found that the only substantial evidence was that the work injury made her condition worse. Anderson, 343 S.C. at 493, 541 S.E.2d at 528.

The Anderson decision is directly analogous to Mrs. Springs' claim. Here we have the same situation with all the evidence showing Mrs. Springs' condition is much worse after the work accident. The aggravation occurred, as found by the Commission and there is no evidence, no medical or psychological opinion, and no testimony that Mrs. Springs' mental condition ever returned to its pre work accident state. All of the opinions and testimony state exactly the opposite, that her mental condition deteriorated because of the aggravation from the work injury, she became increasingly worse until reaching the point of, as noted in the records and in the Commission's Order, suffering from dissociative identity disorder.

Dr. Kriegel, the authorized treating physician, is clear in his records that, "[Claimant's] inability to work has affected not only her emotional level but also her emotional stability." (App. p. 282). He also states, "[Her] physical symptoms have created tremendously powerful psychological symptoms." (App. p. 283) Dr. Kriegel then summarizes, "[Her] coping skills have been overwhelmed by her current situation." (App. p. 289).

Dr. Kriegel's opinion on these issues was made absolutely clear in the questionnaires he completed. In response to those submitted questions, he opined as follows:

1. In light of the medical and psychological history and

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