RECEIVED

SEP 30 2014

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No: 2013-000890

Loretta Springs Petitioner,

vs.

Clemson University and State Accident Fund..... Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Reginald M. Gay (SC Bar No. 0010263)
McNair Law Firm, P.A.
Poinsett Plaza
104 South Main Street
Suite 700 (29601)
Post Office Box 447
Greenville, SC 29602
(864) 271-4940
(864) 271-4015
rgay@mcnair.net
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

This Court has determined that the Administrative Procedures Act governs the standard of judicial review of decisions and awards issued by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. Citing the statute, the Court held that it is empowered on review to reverse or modify a decision only "if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decision, are ... (3) made upon unlawful procedures; (4) affected by other errors of law, [or] (5) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record...." S.C. CODE ANN. § 1-23-380; *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Thus, in

the present matter, the award by the Workers' Compensation Commission can be set aside only if there is an error of law or it is unsupported by substantial evidence. In *Lark*, the Court addressed the substantial evidence rule, stating that in its opinion, the substantial evidence rule should be applied only in those cases where a manifest or gross error of law has been committed by the administrative agency. The court then quoted the language of the statute, adding that: "the Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d. 304 (1981).

Substantial evidence has been defined as:

"such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.... This is something less than the weight of the evidence, and the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence."

Hoxit v. Michelin Tire Corp., 304 S.C. 461, 405 S.E.2d 408 (1991).

Other South Carolina decisions have established that where there is a conflict in the evidence, the Findings of Fact of the Commission, as trier of the facts, is conclusive. *Greer v. Greenville County*, 245 S.C. 442, 141 S.E.2d 91 (1965); *Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999); *Holcombe v. Dan River Mills/Woodside Division*, 286 S.C. 223, 333 S.E.2d 338 (S.C. Ct. App. 1985). The Appellate Courts have cautioned the Bench and Bar on numerous occasions that the substantial evidence rule should not be used as judicial fact finding or a substitution of judicial judgment for agency judgment, and that a judgment upon which reasonable men might differ cannot set aside. *Hunter v. Patrick Construction Co.*, 289 S.C. 46, 344 S.E.2d 613 (1986); *Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). The Findings of the Commission are presumed

correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence. *Crisp v. SouthCo, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 340, 701 S.E.2d 762 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010).

The South Carolina Courts have long held and definitively stated that a Claimant who asserts his or her rights to compensation must establish by the preponderance of the evidence the facts which will entitle him or her to an award under the Act and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation. *Tiller v. National Healthcare Ctr.*, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999); *Polk v. E.I. DuPont deNemours Co., Inc.*, 250 S.C. 468, 158 S.E.2d 765, 767 (1968). The burden is on the Claimant to prove the facts which will render the injury compensable. *Mims v. Nehi Bottling Co.*, 218 S.C. 513, 63 S.E.2d 305 (1951). In deciding whether substantial evidence supports a finding of causation in a Workers' Compensation case, it is appropriate to consider both the lay and expert evidence. *Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 338, 656 S.E.2d 753 (S.C. Ct. App. 2007).

I. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION AND THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS FOLLOWED PRECEDENT AND ESTABLISHED CASE LAW, INCLUDING *ANDERSON V. BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER*, 343 S.C. 387, 541 S.E.2D 526 (2001), IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING SPRINGS' CURRENT MENTAL PROBLEMS WERE NOT COMPENSABLE.

Springs maintains the Commission's Findings and Conclusions that her current mental/psychological problems are not compensable are based on an error of law and unsupported by the evidence in the record. Springs cites *Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center*, 343 S.C. 387, 493, 541 S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001) along with several other cases and S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-9-35 to argue that Springs' work injury aggravated a pre-existing condition making her current psychological problems compensable. The Respondents maintain the substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's conclusions that

Springs has reached maximum medical improvement in regard to any psychological problems causally related to the accident and that her current psychological problems are unrelated. Furthermore, the Respondents maintain there is no error of law. While the Respondents do not dispute that pursuant to *Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center* and the supporting statutory law and case law, mental injuries are compensable if they are induced by either physical injury or by unusual or extraordinary conditions of employment, they dispute that Springs met her burden of proof of establishing compensability.

The case law supports the right of a Claimant to compensation for an aggravation of a pre-existing condition where there is a dormant condition which has produced no disability but which, thereafter, becomes disabling by reason of the aggravating injury. *Anderson* is distinguishable from the present case in that the court in *Anderson* found a pre-existing psychological condition to be compensable because the only substantial evidence in the record clearly showed her condition was aggravated by the work related fall. As set forth below, substantial evidence in the present case supports the Findings of Fact and conclusions of law reached by the Commission that any aggravation of Springs' PTSD is not disabling. Springs' current problems are related to PTSD as a result of childhood abuse, and while unknown to her, they existed prior to her work accident.

As cited by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in its opinion in this case, *Bartley v. Allendale Co. School District*, 392 S.C. 300, 709 S.E.2d 619 (2011) holds that the question to be considered regarding a pre-existing condition is whether the combined effects of the pre-existing condition and the work place injury result in a greater disability than would have otherwise existed. What separates the present case from *Bartley* is that the Commission in

this case determined the substantial evidence in the record supports the fact that the Claimant's current psychological condition is related to her PTSD from childhood abuse, and that while the accident may have initially aggravated her pre-existing PTSD, it was not disabling.

Springs' medical condition is complicated, and in order to understand the Findings and Conclusions of the Commission as it relates to Springs' psychological claim, it is necessary to review the background of Springs' medical treatment. A review of the evidence establishes the Respondents initially accepted responsibility for the claim and based on Springs' subjective complaints provided treatment for Springs' depression and apparent psychological problems. The initial acceptance of the psychological portion of the claim was made in good faith and in the belief that Springs' physical injury resulted in depression and memory loss. While certain early psychological testing and even some treatment may have been necessary and related to the accident, the Respondents dispute Springs' current psychological problems are causally related to her work injury. The record establishes Springs reached maximum medical improvement in regard to any psychological problems causally related to the accident and that her current problems are the result of her pre-existing undiagnosed dissociative identity disorder. This disorder was present for years but had never been diagnosed because Springs had never received counseling. The accident did not cause or aggravate the condition, it just brought the condition to light.

Following the injury, a CT scan was conducted and a referral was made to a neurologist. Springs complained of memory loss, depression, and other psychological problems. The neurologist, Dr. Jerry Sherrill, treated Springs over an extended period of

time. Springs' objective testings were reported as normal. (R. pp. 140, 157). Despite negative scans, it was initially believed that Springs' subjective complaints of memory loss and depression were related to her head injury. Springs also underwent a psychological evaluation by Dr. Nancy Voight in the fall of 2008 and was referred to the Roger C. Peace Rehabilitation Hospital where she underwent neuropsychological evaluation by Dr. Sheldon Herring, a Ph.D., Licensed Psychologist, Clinical Neuropsychologist, and Clinical Program Director on September 30, 2009.

Following extensive testing, Dr. Herring issued a report dated October 26, 2009. The testing established that Springs was able to read single words and short sentences adequately and her single word recognition was in the average range. Visual spatial processing was normal. Despite Springs' objective complaints, her memory was found to be functional and essentially fell within the average range. Springs' overall profile was within normal limits. It was felt that most of her problems at the time were likely due to pain and not necessarily reflective of primary deficits related to a brain injury. This was supported by the significant disassociation between the patient's self reporting and her actual underlying cognitive strengths. (R. pp. 258-264). Dr. Herring further noted that the evidence shows improvement in some areas compared to 2008 testing which was conducted by Dr. Voight. (R. p. 262). Dr. Herring also noted that Springs was surprised by her numerous cognitive strengths. (R. p. 262).

Dr. Herring's testing shows that Springs' mental status following the accident improved and that her mental abilities were in the average range. Thus, the record establishes Springs' subjective complaints were not corroborated through the testing and it

was Dr. Herring's opinion that there was no confirmation of a brain injury. There is no mention of PTSD. This supports the Commission's conclusions that Springs' problems were not as severe as reported, and her current problems are unrelated to the accident. Accordingly, there is evidence in the record to support the Commission's Decision and Order that the accident did not aggravate or cause her current problems.

As a result of this testing and based on the recommendations of her doctors, counseling sessions were authorized by the Respondents through Dr. Kriegel for counseling related to back pain. Dr. Kriegel first saw Springs in November 2009, more than two (2) years after her work accident. At that time, he felt Springs was an excellent candidate for a treatment program focusing on improving her coping skills and assisting her in reducing all of her chronic pain symptoms and her emotional reaction to her condition. (R. pp. 279-280). Dr. Kriegel felt Springs had good potential for improvement and began counseling Springs every two (2) weeks. Since there appeared to be improvement in her coping skills, beginning in February 2010, Dr. Kriegel started addressing and focusing on her purported memory issues. (R. p. 285). As Dr. Kriegel and Springs began discussing her memory issues, Springs started focusing on her memories from her childhood and it became apparent that her memory problems "may be more related to intrusive memories from her childhood rather than as a direct result of her head injury during the accident." (R. p. 286). Springs related she had intrusive memories and nightmares most of her life but she had not been aware that they may be related to the trauma she had experienced as a child. (R. p. 287). By March 19, 2010, Dr. Kriegel determined it appeared "more and more that she suffered from post traumatic stress disorder from childhood abuse." (R. p. 289). The first mention of

dissociative identity disorder is in Dr. Kriegel's medical record dated July 27, 2010, approximately eight (8) months into her treatment. (R. p. 324). On August 19, 2010, Springs informed Dr. Kriegel she realized for the first time she had been battling depression for many years and that the reason she did not recognize it was because it had been her constant companion. (R. p. 327). By September 23, 2010, Springs was found to have at least five (5) separate alter personalities and Dr. Kriegel had been in communication with at least three (3) of them. (R. p. 332).

Thus, the evidence shows that for a considerable period of time, the treating physicians were unable to connect their objective findings with Springs' subjective complaints. While several diagnoses were considered, including secondary gain (R. p. 183), based on the physicians' recommendations, treatment was provided by the Respondents. As a result, Springs' condition improved as evidenced by the fact that she returned to work and her psychological testing improved. Although Springs subsequently left work, this was due to her work restrictions associated with her back problems at that time and not the result of any mental or psychological issues. (R. pp. 95-96). These work restrictions were later lifted when Dr. Sherrill returned her to work with no restrictions. (R. p. 319).

In reviewing Dr. Kriegel's medical records and Springs' testimony, it is apparent the accident did not cause her PTSD nor did it cause her memory issues. Instead, the counseling brought Springs' pre-existing PTSD and dissociative identity disorder to the forefront. This is supported by her statements to Dr. Kriegel that she had had intrusive memories and nightmares most of her life but she had not been aware that they may be related to trauma she had experienced as a child. (R. p. 287). Springs' testimony at the hearing also establishes

that prior to the accident she had “lost time,” and she recalled losing time or blacking out while in high school. Springs acknowledged these incidents could have been due to different personalities because she was being abused at the time. (R. pp. 107, 119). In actuality, Springs had been suffering from memory loss and depression since childhood, she just did not know why nor did she associate it with PTSD or dissociative identity disorder. Since she had not received counseling, the condition had never been diagnosed.

The record also contains evidence that Springs had similar dizziness and severe headaches issues before the accident. Springs’ prior episodes of dizziness and severe headaches prompted previous treatment and evaluation by the Mayo Clinic in Florida. During this time, Springs also had an MRI of the brain to determine the source of her problems. (R. p. 110). As stated above, Springs acknowledged “lost time” and depression for many years.

Springs cites several Findings of Fact upon which she relies to establish compensability by way of an aggravation of a pre-existing condition. Springs, however, fails to cite the additional Findings of Fact and evidence in the Commission’s Order which support the denial of compensability. For instance, Springs received extensive medical treatment from a neurologist and two (2) neuropsychologists for approximately two and one-half (2½) years following the accident with no mention of PTSD. Similarly, there is no mention of any aggravation of a pre-existing condition in any of their records. Dr. Jerry Sherrill, the treating neurologist, treated Springs for both her back and memory issues. As stated in Finding of Fact 16, in April 2009 Dr. Sherrill stated that Springs had no restrictions neurologically to keep her from working. (R. p. 29). This is supported by the record wherein

Dr. Sherrill concluded on March 26, 2010 that Springs was able to return to work with no restrictions and would not need further medical treatment for her work injury. While Dr. Sherrill assigned a 3% impairment to the head, this rating was for Springs' purported loss of smell and not for any mental or psychological problems. (R. p. 319).

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